IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

AMERISTAR CASINO VICKSBURG, INC.

APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO. 2006-CA-01375

KATHERINE L. BUCHANAN

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- I. Estate of Katherine L. Buchanan;
- II. David M. Sessums and Varner, Parker & Sessums, P.A.;
- III. Ameristar Casino, Inc.
- IV. Ameristar Casino Vicksburg, Inc
- V. Robert P. Thompson, Esquire
- VI. Copeland Cook Taylor & Bush
- VII. Paul Kelly Loyocano, Esquire

STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT			
ARGUMENT			
SUMMARY			
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE			

£.

TABLE OF CASES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES

Viskase Corporation v American National Can Co., 979 F. Supp. 697 (N.D. ILL.)

United States v Walus, 616 F. 2d 283, 287-88 (Supp. Cir. 1980)

Fraige v American-National Watermattress Corp, 996 F. 2d295, 299 (Fed. Cir. 1993)

Minneapolis, St. Paul and Sault Ste Marie Ry Co. v Moquin, 283 U.S. 520, 521-522, 51 S. Ct. 501, 502, 75 L. Ed. And 1243 (1931)

In re: M/V Peacock, 809 F. 2d 1403, 1405 (9th Cir. 1987)

Smith v State, 492 So. 2d 260 (Miss 1986)

Tobias v State, 584 So. 2d 1276 (Miss 1991)

Brown v State, 890 So. 2d 901 (Miss 2004)

Plair v State, 867 So. 2d 289 (Miss. App. 2004)

Yoste v Wal-Mart Stores Inc., 822 So. 2d 935 (Miss 2002)

Sawyer v Illinois Central Gulf Railroad Co., 606 So. 2d 1069 (Miss 1992)

Gaines v K-Mart Corp, 860 So. 2d 1214 (Miss 2003)

Allstate Insurance Co. v McGory, 697 So. 2d 1171 (Miss 1997)

Fore v Illinois Central Railway Co., 160 So. 903 (Miss 1935)

Brown Oil Tools, Inc. v Schmidt, 148 So. 2d 685 (Miss 1963)

Payne v Wynne, 126 Miss. 271, 88 So. 705

,

÷ :

Bankston v McKnight, 139 Miss. 116 116, 103 So. 807

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. The Lower Court erred in overruling Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial based upon the false/perjured testimony of Kelvin Mays;
- 2. The Lower Court erred in allowing the testimony of Kelvin Mays;
- 3. The jury's verdict on the issue of punitive damages was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

Respectfully submitted,

KATHERINE L. BUCHANAN

BY:

÷ .

Z:_____ DAVID M. SESSUMS (MSB #6714)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 27, 1999, Katherine Buchanan filed her Complaint before the Circuit Court of Warren County alleging that on March 8, 1997, she was injured during the course and scope of her employment with Ameristar and that Ameristar had wrongfully refused to pay her workers compensation benefits(Vol 1, Page 26)

During the course of the compensation proceedings the insurance company which insured Ameristar, Legion Insurance, was declared insolvent.

Trial commenced against Ameristar on April 10, 2006, on the actual damages portion of the bad faith case, at the conclusion of which the jury determined Ameristar did not have an arguable or good faith reason to deny Katherine Buchanan's claim for workers compensation benefits and returned its verdict on April 18, 2006, finding for Katherine Buchanan and assessing her actual damages in the sum of \$30,000.00. (Vol 3, Page 333)

Thereafter, the Circuit Court denied the Defendant's motion for directed verdict on the issue of punitive damages and allowed that issue to go to the jury after which the jury returned its verdict in the punitive damages phase of the trial on April 19, 2006, stating, "We, the jury, find for the Defendant."

Judgment was entered in favor of Katherine Buchanan and against Ameristar Casino Vicksburg, Inc on April 21, 2006, in the sum of \$30,000.00 (Vol 3, Page 333)

On April 28, 2006, the Plaintiff filed her Revised Motion for New Trial or in the Alternative for J.N.O.V. asserting, inter alia, that the jury's verdict on the issue of punitive damages was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, that the lower court erred in allowing the testimony of Ameristar witness Kelvin Mays and that the lower court erred in refusing to sustain Plaintiff's

Motion for New Trial based upon the false and perjured testimony of Kelvin Mays. (Vol 3, Page 349-351)

Attached to Plaintiff's revised Motion for New Trial or on the Alternative for J.N.O.V. was a copy of the testimony of Kelvin Mays transcribed from April 19, 2006 (Exhibit "A" to said revised motion) and copies of the workers compensation claims of Ameristar employees which were denied by Ameristar prior to 2003 (Exhibit "B" to said revised motion)

On July 18, 2006, Katherine Buchanan filed her Plaintiff's Supplement to Motion for New Trial attaching as an Exhibit thereto the deposition testimony of former injured Ameristar worker Deborah Russell in that certain case styled "Deborah T. Russell vs Ameristar Casino Vicksburg and Hartford Fire Insurance Co.; MWCC No. 05 3353-J-2220." (Vol. 3, Page 421 et seq) This deposition testimony taken at the instance of Ameristar on July 6, 2006, (three months after the Buchanan trial) in a completely separate case established that Kevin May (sic) instructed other Ameristar employees not to discuss or have any contact with Deborah Russell regarding her case and established that Deborah Russell, like Katherine Buchanan, had her disability benefits denied by Kelvin Mays and Ameristar.

This is significant because at trial on April 19, 2006, Kelvin Mays had testified on direct examination that Katherine Buchanan's claim was the <u>only claim</u> for workers compensation benefits denied by Ameristar from 1996 through 2003. (Vol 5, Pgs 51-53) In direct contrast the copies of the claims of the Ameristar employees whose workers compensation claims were denied by Ameristar prior to 2003, (attached as Exhibit "B" to claimant's Revised Motion for New Trial or in the Alternative for J.N.O.V.) and the evidence from the denial of Deborah Russell's claim clearly show that the testimony presented by Mays to the jury was false.

This testimony was clearly material to and relied upon by the same jury which had already decided that Ameristar did not have any arguable or good faith basis for denying Katherine Buchanan's workers compensation claim and awarded actual damages of \$30,000.00. On the basis of May's testimony the jury decided that punitive damages should not be awarded (i.e.: obviously on the basis that Buchanan's claim was the <u>only one</u> denied by Ameristar out of 1,332 claims filed during 1996-2003 and out of 1,940 claims filed between 1994 and 2003.)

The lower court denied Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial or J.N.O.V. on July 26, 2006, and on August 14, 2006, Katherine Buchanan filed her Notice of Appeal (Vol 4, Page 452).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

After the jury determined that Ameristar did not have an arguable or good faith reason to deny Katherine Buchanan's claim for workers compensation benefits it awarded actual damages of \$30,000.00 and the case moved to the punitive damage phase of the trial.

Prior to proceeding with the punitive damage phase of the trial Katherine Buchanan moved ore tenus that Ameristar should not be allowed to go in to extraneous matters such as other claims submitted by other employers and allegedly paid by Ameristar. (Vol 5, Pg 55) This motion was overruled by the trial court. (Vol 5, Pg 56)

In the proceedings on the punitive damages phase of the trial Katherine Buchanan incorporated as part of her punitive damage case the testimony and exhibits presented during the actual damages phase of the case (Vol 5, Pg 56) and it was stipulated that Ameristar had a net worth of \$42,327,502.00. (Vol 5, Pg 56)

The Court instructed the jury that all the evidence previously heard for the past six days was considered to be incorporated into the evidence in the punitive damage phase of the case and instructed the jury to consider such evidence just as if it had been presented all over again. (Vol 5, Pgs 56-57)

Over the objection of Plaintiff Ameristar was allowed in the direct examination of Kelvin Mays to introduce evidence of other claims of other Ameristar employees other than Katherine Buchanan alleging that 1,332 other completely separate workers compensation claims were paid by Ameristar from 1996 to 2003 thus confronting Katherine Buchanan with the impossible task of delving into whether 1,332 other cases were factually similar or different from the claim of Katherine Buchanan.

On redirect Kelvin Mays was allowed to testify that Katherine Buchanan's claim was the only one out of 1,940 claims that Ameristar had ever denied from 1994 to 2003.

Such testimony obviously had an effect on the same jury that after hearing six days of disputed testimony had reached the decision that Amerista<u>had no arguable reason</u> to deny Katherine Buchanan's claim and had done so in bad faith. After hearing Mays' testimony this same jury returned a verdict for Ameristar on the issue of punitive damages obviously believing that Katherine Buchanan's case was the <u>one and only</u> isolated case where Ameristar had ever denied a workers compensation claim and on this basis decided that there was no need to award punitive damages.

ARGUMENT

After Ameristar denied Katherine Buchanan's claim for workers compensation benefits the comp case proceeded to hearing before the Administrative Judge who found that Mrs. Buchanan's injury was compensable. Ameristar appealed.

The Mississippi Workers Compensation Commission without commend affirmed the

decision of the ALJ awarding benefits and Ameristar appealed to the Circuit Court of Warren County, Mississippi. The Circuit Court unhesitatingly affirmed the award of Mississippi Workers Compensation Commission and Ameristar then appealed to the Mississippi Supreme Court.

Shortly after perfecting its appeal to the Supreme Court Ameristar abruptly voluntarily dismissed its appeal but still refused to pay workers compensation benefits to Katherine Buchanan until some five months after all appeals had been extinguished.

In its defense of the bad faith action Ameristar pled that it relied upon and followed the advice of its workers compensation counsel.

At the trial of the present bad faith action in April 2006, the jury considered among other exhibits and testimony a letter from Ameristar's workers compensation attorney to Ameristar dated January 5, 1999, where, inter alia, the following was contained, to wit:

"Though this is not the result that either you or I hoped for in this case, I think it should be kept in mind that in cases where there is conflicting proof, such as this one, it is important to take such cases to hearing since one never knows exactly what the Administrative Judge is going to do, and even if the claim is found compensable, that the employee is forced to hire a lawyer and go through the process of a hearing to obtain workers compensation benefits. I can assure you that her co-workers are aware of how much trouble she had to go through to obtain workers compensation benefits. Certain employees may think twice before filing a claim due to the fact that Ameristar did not pay benefits to Mrs. Buchanan just because she claimed she was hurt on the job." (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 43- found in envelope No. 1)

Although at trial Ameristar attempted to explain away and to disavow the contents of this letter the bad faith jury also heard Ameristar's own employees on cross and obviously considered this "make an example" letter in deciding that Ameristar had no arguable reason whatsoever to deny Katherine's claim for workers compensation benefits and awarded \$30,000.00 in actual damages for the bad faith denial of her workers comp claim. During the punitive damage phase of the trial, Kelvin Mays (who should not have been allowed to give his testimony at all) was asked:

Q: Alright. Mr. Mays, I am going to represent to you in this case there is a letter that says – and the jury had heard it, and I can show you the letter if you'd like to see it– it says, We made it tough on Katherine Buchanan. We made her– forced her to hire a lawyer, and we made her go through the claim. And other employees will see the trouble she had and be reluctant to file their own claims. Okay? I am going to represent to you that letter exists, and the jury has seen it. Are you with me so far? A: I think I am, yes, sir.

Q: Alright. Now, if Ameristar is making examples out of people, of Katherine Buchanan in this case, for the stated purpose-- for the stated purpose of making certain employees think twice before filing their own claims, you'd agree with me that if that's what's happening then some people that get hurt may be reluctant to file their own claims, correct?

A: I– I wouldn't agree with that.

Q: You wouldn't agree? Tell me why you wouldn't agree with that. If Ameristar's lawyer writes to Ameristar and says- tell my why you agree-disagree with this lawyer. He is telling them, I can assure you that if her coworkers are aware of how much trouble she has had to go through to obtain workers compensation benefits certain employees may think twice before filing a claim due to the fact that Ameristar did not pay benefits to Mrs. Buchanan just because she claims she was hurt on the job. Now, you don't think if Ameristar is making an example out of Katherine

Buchanan that will make other employees think twice-think twice before filing their own claim?

A: No, I don't.

Q: You don't?

A: I don't. (Vol 5, Pg 70-71)

Ameristar obviously attempted, successfully as it turned out, to counter this "make an example" letter in evidence by presenting evidence that it did not make or try to make an example out of Katherine Buchanan. It did so by the perjured testimony of Kelvin Mays that Katherine Buchanan's claim was the **only** workers compensation claim which was denied out of 1,332 claims from 1996 through 2003 (May's direct examination) and out of 1,940 claims from 1994 to 2003 (May's redirect examination).

Mays testified on direct examination:

Q: <u>And of these 1,332 claims up until 2003 on how many of those claims did</u> <u>Ameristar deny compensability</u>?

A: Only one.

i

Q: <u>And that was Mrs. Buchanan</u>? A: <u>Yes</u>.(Vol. 5, Pg 64)

Mays prefaced the above testimony by stating Q: All right. And where are you employed? A: Ameristar Casino in Vicksburg, Mississippi. Q: All right. And how long have you been employed by Ameristar Casino in Vicksburg?

A: In May, it will be 6 years.

Q: Six years. At your request, the attorneys for Ameristar, did you undertake to go back and go through all the workers compensation claims filed from 1996 forward? A: Yes. (Vol 5, Pg 62)

Q: All right. What evidence do you have that you made this count?

A: A spreadsheet, an Excel spreadsheet.

Q: Okay. And does you Excel spreadsheet-what does it list on it?

A: It lists date, time, name, description, department code, the team member supervisor, OSHA code, paid amount, reserve amount, and the status of the claim. (Vol 5, Pg 63)

Q: Let me ask this before I get into that number thing again. Why is it that Ameristar keeps these figures?

A: Why do we keep these figures?

Q: Yes.

A: It gives us a total of the amount of money that is paid on the workers comp claims. (Vol. 5, Pgs 63-64)

***,

Q: All right. Now, let me just ask you this, Mr. Mays; Since 1996 through 2003, how many workers compensation claims were made to Ameristar by its employees?

A: 1,332

Q: And of these 1,332 claims up until 2003, how many of those claims did Ameristar deny compensability?

A: Only one.

Q: And that was Mrs. Buchanan?

A: Yes. (Vol 5, Pg 64)

After testifying on his direct examination that 1,332 claims were workers comp claims made from 1996-2000 and that <u>none of them</u>, except Buchanan's, was denied Mays also testified:

Q: Would you tell the jury- since Mr. Sessums raised it, let's go back to 1994 and 1995- of those 608 people how many of them's claim was denied?

A: <u>None</u>.

Q: Alright. So now we have– from 1994 through 2003 we have a total of how many when we add 608 to 1,322? Might I suggest to you since I have got the pen that its 1,940? Does that sound–if the brothers taught me at St. Al how to do that thing, you believe me?

A: That sounds correct.

Q: Alright. Now, Mr. Sessums questioned you about teaching lessons, okay? And Katherine-by denying Katherine Buchanan's claim we supposedly cracked the whip (indicating) and we told these other workers, no, don't-

Q: Did you have the intent to crack the whip on these other workers, these other 1,940 workers?

A: Never.

4 -

Q: Because they came forward, didn't they?

A: Absolutely.

Q: Okay. Now, as far as teaching anyone anything about filing a claim, how does Ameristar view what you tought <u>1,940 people vs 1</u>?

Q: Okay. Now, on teaching the lesson, what lesson should 1,940 people have learned about when they get hurt at Ameristar? What did those 1,940 people learn?

A: That they should-

A. That they should file their claim; that they should report their work-related injury. Q: Okay. And that it was- if you take Katherine Buchanan as a lesson, that is 1,940 separate lessons, isn't it?

A: Absolutely. (Vol 5, Pgs 79-80)

At trial, Katherine Buchanan had no way to know in advance that Kelvin Mays would present false and perjury testimony to the jury. In complete candor to this Court, Kelvin Mays was identified in discovery as a potential fact witness. However, so were many, many others and Katherine Buchanan simply did not have the resources, and would never have the resources, to depose each and every person on such an extensive witness list.

When Mays gave his testimony in the punitive damage phase of the case counsel for Buchanan was aware of another case (Deborah Russell) in the files back at his office, where Ameristar had in fact denied another Ameristar employee's workers compensation claim. Obviously, same was not available "on the spot" for cross examination of Mays.

After trial copies of other claims denied by Ameristar were obtained from the Workers Compensation Commission and attached as Exhibit "B" to Buchanan's Revised Motion for New Trial clearly establishing that the testimony of Kelvin Mays was false and perjured.

A copy of said Exhibit "B" is also attached hereto.

This information confirmed that at a minimum the claims of Johnnie Peacock, Tracy Wallace, Lealon Garrison, Jennie Robinson, and Robert Harps were also denied by Ameristar.

In particular, this evidence indicated that the claim of Lealon Garrison was injured on July 15, 1995, and that his claim had been <u>denied</u>.

This information relating to Jennie Robinson indicated that Ameristar stated, "We are contesting the surgery due to the Claimant working for another employer after our injury. We are contesting (sic) benefits also."

This information regarding the claim of Robert Harps stated, "<u>We are contesting that the</u> accident of May 21, 1999, <u>arose out of and during his course or scope of employment</u>. This is based on the medical reports provided by Dr. Paul Pierce. <u>We have denied the workers compensation</u> <u>claim</u>."

Regarding the claim of injured employee Tracy Wallace Ameristar's denial of this claim stated, "ER/Carrier <u>dispute condition as being work related</u> as medical information suggest problem is related to pregnancy and not to any untoward event at work."

The denial of the claim of Johnnie Peacock stated, "ER/Carridispute entitlement to benefits as medical documentation is not supportive of work-related claim."

The deposition testimony of Deborah Russell (her deposition was noticed by Ameristar <u>after</u> the Buchanan trial) establishes that the claim was denied with the active participation of Kelvin Mays.

The testimony of Kelvin Mays was false. It was given under oath thus making it perjury.

In 66 C.J.S. New Trial, Section 35, the authors state:

"Misconduct of a party or his attorney in respect of matters relating to evidence may afford ground for new trial, as where the misconduct consists in inducing a witness to absent himself from the trial or to avoid the service of his subpoena <u>or in the</u> <u>willful introduction of false evidence</u>, or in suppressing evidence, or in the misconduct of a party while testifying as a witness in the case." 66 C.J.S., New Trial, Section 35 at Page 125

In this case, the jury determined that Ameristar had no arguable reason for denying Katherine

Buchanan's workers compensation claim, and did so in bad faith, by considering the documentary

and other evidence that Ameristar had sought to make an example out of Katherine so that other

Ameristar employees would not file their own workers compensation claims. Then, Kelvin Mays got

up and told the jury that Katherine's case was the only one out of 1,940 workers compensation

claims that had been denied by Ameristar and certainly the jury obviously took this into account in

returning their verdict for Ameristar on the issue of punitive damages.

4 -

In 58 Am Jur 2d, New Trial, Section 291 the authors of that authority explain that:

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