IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

KATHERINE L. BUCHANAN

APPELLANT

v.

CAUSE NO. 2006-CA-01375

AMERISTAR CASINO VICKSBURG, INC.

APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Warren County, Mississippi Honorable Frank G. Vollor, Presiding

BRIEF OF APPELLEE AMERISTAR CASINO VICKSBURG, INC.

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

HERBERT C. EHRHARDT, Miss. Bar No. BETHANY BRANTLEY JOHNSON, Miss. Bar No. OGLETREE, DEAKINS, NASH, SMOAK & STEWART, P.C. 100 CONCOURSE, SUITE 204 1052 HIGHLAND COLONY PARKWAY RIDGELAND, MS 39157 TELEPHONE: 601-360-8444 FACSIMILE: 601-360-0995

ATTORNEYS FOR AMERISTAR CASINO VICKSBURG, INC.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

KATHERINE L. BUCHANAN

APPELLANT

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The testimony which Buchanan chose to ignore for purposes of this appeal occurred over a period of six days during the liability phase of this trial. During that six-day period, at the close of Buchanan's case in chief, one of the defendants – GAB -- was voluntarily dismissed. The fact that GAB was involved in the lawsuit as a defendant in the first place clearly established to the jury that Ameristar was not acting **on its own** in regard to Buchanan's workers' compensation claim. Under the jury instructions given, the \$30,000 liability verdict against Ameristar established one thing only: the jury found that Ameristar lacked a justifiable or arguable reason to deny or delay payment of **Buchanan's** claim for workers' compensation benefits. The verdict established no more and no less; it did not establish that the jury found Ameristar to be the only entity at fault and it did not establish that the jury found Ameristar's procedure of handling claims in general was inappropriate. It established only that the jury believed Buchanan should be awarded \$30,000 for the emotional distress she suffered due to the denial and delay of payment of her workers' compensation benefits.

ŕ

ć

ł.

i

During the punitive damages phase, Ameristar introduced evidence to show that it did not have a pattern of contesting workers' compensation claims by illustrating the large number of claims that were made during the time period of 1994 – 2003 and the minute number of claims that were denied during that same time period. Because punitive damages are designed to punish the defendant and deter similar conduct in the future, rather than to compensate the specific plaintiff for her own harm, such evidence was appropriately introduced during the punitive damages phase.

Moreover, contrary to Buchanan's claims, the evidence submitted was not "perjured" or false. Buchanan knew for several years prior to the trial that Kelvin G. Mays was expected to provide trial testimony on these very numbers. In fact, Ameristar provided Buchanan's counsel with copies of the spreadsheets containing the claims information in October 2003, specifically identifying the yearly charts as defense exhibits. (R. 400). Moreover, Ameristar submitted an affidavit from Kelvin G. Mays in support of its summary judgment motion, filed on March 8, 2006, which specifically outlined the number of claims made, paid and/or denied between 1996 and 1998, the years before and after Buchanan's injury. (R. 334, 347-348; ARE Vol. I, Tab 10). Mays' testimony at trial in April 2006 certainly should have come as no surprise to Buchanan. His testimony was relevant and was properly admitted at trial.

Despite having knowledge of these charts and the affidavit testimony previously given by Mr. Mays, as well as having knowledge that Ameristar intended to introduce such evidence at trial, Buchanan made no effort to depose Mr. Mays prior to trial. Within a week of the trial's conclusion, however, Buchanan's counsel obtained information from the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission which he now claims proves that Mays' trial testimony was perjured and "false." The information obtained indicates that there were five workers' compensation claims filed by Ameristar employees during the time period of 1994 – 2003 in which a B-52 was filed. Buchanan argues that this directly contradicts Mays' testimony that Buchanan's claim was the only claim during that same time period in which Ameristar denied the compensability of a claim.

.

ŧ

ι

L.

ι.

Ė.

l.

As an initial matter, the "supplemental" records submitted by Buchanan do not establish that Mays' testimony was false. Those documents simply illustrate that in a few instances, third party administrators, such as GAB, decided to contest particular elements of workers' compensation claims, not that Ameristar "denied" the claims. There is a big difference between these two propositions, and Buchanan has not established by clear and convincing evidence that the testimony was actually perjured. Further, Buchanan fails to establish that she is entitled to a new trial on the issue of punitive damages based on Mays' testimony, even if it is incorrect, in that there is insufficient evidence to establish the requirements of Rule 60(b) to warrant setting aside a judgment.

Finally, Buchanan wrongly asserts that the punitive damages verdict, in favor of Ameristar, was necessarily based "solely" on the testimony of Mays, and thus against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Buchanan forgets that <u>all evidence introduced during the entire trial</u> was incorporated by reference into the punitive damages phase of trial, and for that reason, it is quite unclear what evidence the jury relied upon in rendering its defense verdict. In this context, Buchanan's decision to not make the trial testimony part of the record on appeal is both perplexing and suspect since such decisions are usually made with self-interest in mind. The verdict rendered was well within the discretion of the jury and should not be set aside.

ź

.

ι

i

ARGUMENT

I. Buchanan's failure to designate all evidence taken during trial, including the transcript containing the testimony of all live witnesses, warrants dismissal of this appeal.

All of Buchanan's claims are based on the premise that Mays' testimony – and Mays' testimony only – resulted in the defense verdict on punitive damages. First, Buchanan incorrectly argues that Mays should not have been allowed to testify, and if so, punitive damages would have been automatic, just a determination of how much. Then, Buchanan argues that Mays' told lies on the stand, and a new trial is warranted for that reason because that is "obviously" what led to the defense verdict. (Buchanan's Brief, p. 27). Finally, Buchanan argues, in general, that the defense verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the "evidence."

Unfortunately, this Court has no way to determine what evidence the jury considered in reaching its verdict because the only evidence Buchanan designated for this Court's review is one small piece of it – the 30-minute testimony of Kelvin Mays. Buchanan's counsel specifically requested and received an instruction from the trial court to "incorporate the testimony" that the jury had previously heard during the actual trial: "the Court is going to . . . incorporate all of the evidence that you've previously heard in the last five – six days into this proceeding right now...." (R. Vol. 5, p. 56; ARE Vol. II, Tab 20). Indeed, the record reflects that the jury actually had and reviewed triat exhibits during its deliberations regarding punitive damages. As Buchanan's counsel himself stated in regard to a question as to whether the exhibits should be sent back with the jury during the punitive damages deliberations: "It's all evidence. I think it goes back." (R. Vol. 5, p. 105; ARE Vol. II, Tab 25). Further, Buchanan's counsel specifically referred to testimony given by a number of witnesses during the liability

ł

t

phase when making his closing argument on punitive damages. (R. Vol. 5, pp. 84-97; ARE Vol. II, Tab 22).

Despite the fact that the jury clearly considered evidence presented during both the liability and punitive damages phases of the trial, Buchanan designated only the transcript of the punitive damages phase of the trial to be included in the record on appeal. This designation is clearly insufficient to permit this Court to rule on her appeal.

Under the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure, an appellant who argues "that a finding or conclusion is unsupported by the evidence or is contrary to the evidence . . . shall include in the record a transcript of all evidence relevant to such finding or conclusion." MISS. R. APP. P. 10(b)(2). Indeed, this Court has affirmed lower court's decisions based on an appellant's failure to comply with this rule. *See Robinson v. Lee*, 821 So. 2d 129, 131 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) (affirming trial court because the appellate court was "unable to evaluate the propriety of the trial court's decision because the record on appeal does not provide us with any testimony or evidence"); *Smoot v. State*, 780 So. 2d 660, 664 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) (noting that the "record is not adequate to support [appellant's] claims").

Accordingly, because this Court does not have a sufficient record to review, it is impossible for this Court to determine whether the jury's verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Unless the Court knows what evidence the jury heard, the Court also cannot speculate as to whether Mays' testimony (regardless of its truth or falsity) had any bearing on the jury's verdict. For this reason alone, Buchanan's appeal should be dismissed.

II. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in permitting Kelvin Mays to testify during the punitive damages phase of the trial.

Buchanan argues that Ameristar should not have been permitted to adduce testimony from Kelvin Mays during the punitive damages phase of trial. Ameristar had not been permitted to put on evidence relating to its historical workers' compensation data during the liability phase,

i

but the circuit court overruled Buchanan's renewed objection to that type of evidence during the punitive damages phase. (R. Vol. 5, p. 51-52; ARE Vol. II, Tab 20).

On direct examination, Mays testified as to the number of claims made and claims paid/denied between 1996 and 2003. He testified that during that time period, there were 1,332 workers' compensation claims made, and there was only one claim on which Ameristar denied compensability. (R. Vol. 5, pp. 63-64; ARE Vol. II, Tab 21). Implying that Ameristar was "hiding the ball" with regard to the number of claims during 1994 and 1995, Buchanan inquired into the numbers for those years during cross-examination. (R. Vol. 5, pp. 65-67; ARE Vol. II, Tab 21). Buchanan's counsel badgered Mays about why he didn't have data from those two years with him:

- Q: Do you know why you were not asked to look at the 1994 figures?
- A: Really, I think we were looking at I was just going by what the attorneys requested, and we were looking at a year the year of the incident, a year before and a year after.
- Q: My question to you is, do you know why did anybody tell you why you were not asked to look at the 1994 figures?
- A: No, sir.
- * * *
- Q: Did you look at the 1995 figures or not?
- A: Yes, sir.
- Q: You did?
- A: Yes, sir.
- Q: Do you have those in front of the jury today?
- A: I don't think I have them with me, no.
- * * *
- Q: Mr. Mays, we got four lawyers now representing Ameristar. Did anybody tell

- A: No, sir.
- * * *
- Q: Okay. Thank you. Now, and you don't know why they told you, don't use '94; don't bring '95, and start with '96? You don't know the answer to that question?
- A: No, sir, but I-
- Q: I don't want you to guess. Do you know the answer or not?
- A: No, sir.

i

(R. Vol. 5, pp. 65-67; ARE Vol. II, Tab 21, pp. 65-67).

On redirect, Ameristar refreshed Mr. Mays' recollection as to the workers' compensation claims data from 1994 and 1995 by showing him the Excel spreadsheets that he had long before prepared. Mays went on to testify that including those two years in the figures resulted in another 608 claims made, none of which Ameristar denied. (R. Vol. 5, pp. 78-79; ARE Vol. II, Tab 21, pp. 78-79). With those years added to the mix, the total of claims made were 1,940, and Mays testified that of those 1,940 claims, Ameristar had initially denied only one of them as to compensability – that of Buchanan.

It must be noted that Buchanan had been provided the numbers and Excel spreadsheets upon which Mays relied (from 1994 – 2003) long before trial. In fact, the Excel spreadsheets were provided to Buchanan's counsel in October 2003, and were specifically identified as trial exhibits. (R. 400). Buchanan's counsel's surprise at that testimony is somewhat curious since those records had been supplied to him years earlier.

Buchanan next argues that Mays' testimony was not "relevant" and should have been excluded.⁷ Mays' testimony was very relevant, but to fully understand the relevance, it is

⁷Notably, all three cases cited by Buchanan for the proposition that Ameristar should not have been allowed to put on evidence of other workers' compensation claims are in the context of slip-and-fall and

necessary to review the context in which the testimony was offered.

During the liability phase, Buchanan introduced into evidence a letter dated January 5, 1999, from William A. Patterson, the attorney representing GAB, Legion and Ameristar in the workers' compensation proceedings. In that letter, Patterson recounted the outcome of the initial hearing before the administrative law judge of the MWCC. (R. Env. 1, Ex. P-43; ARE Vol. II, Tab 18, Ex. P-43). Buchanan introduced this as her "smoking gun," relying heavily on **Patterson's** comment in the letter that "[c]ertain employees may think twice before filing a claim due to the fact that Ameristar did not pay benefits to Ms. Buchanan just because she claimed she was hurt on the job." Buchanan's entire trial theme was that Ameristar had tried to "make an example" of her in order to decrease the number of claims made by injured employees.

On direct examination, Patterson admitted to the jury that the statements included in that letter regarding the effects of contesting questionable claims were entirely his own opinions and did not reflect the policy of Ameristar. Ameristar adduced corroborating testimony from its witnesses, as well as GAB witnesses, that those statements were not indicative of any policy of Ameristar. (R. Vol. 5, pp. 100-101; ARE Vol. II, Tab 22, pp. 100-101). As mentioned earlier, Ameristar had not been permitted during the liability phase to introduce evidence as to other workers' compensation claims received, paid and/or denied during the time period surrounding Buchanan's injury to corroborate Patterson's testimony that it was never Ameristar's policy to deny valid workers' compensation claims filed by its employees. Mays testimony did that, and was certainly appropriate evidence for the jury to hear in determining whether Ameristar needed to be punished to deter similar conduct in the future.

ŧ

train-crossing cases. (Yoste v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 822 So. 2d 935 (Miss. 2002); Sawyer v. Illinois Central Gulf Railroad Co., 606 So. 2d 1069 (Miss. 1992); Gaines v. K-Mart Corp., 860 So. 2d 1214 (Miss. 2003)). In each of the cases cited, the issue was whether the plaintiff could introduce, under MISS. R. EVID. 404(b), evidence of prior accidents to establish that the existence of a dangerous condition and/or the defendant's knowledge of such a condition. That concept has no application to these facts.

Buchanan argues that her case "should have been decided on the facts of her case and not on the basis of other employee's [sic] cases." (Buchanan's Brief, p. 22). While that is true as to the liability phase of trial, it is overly simplistic and incorrect as to the punitive damages phase. Because the primary purpose of punitive damages is to <u>punish</u> the wrongdoer and <u>deter</u> similar misconduct in the future, rather than to make the plaintiff whole for some specific wrongdoing, the trial court properly permitted Ameristar to put on the only type of evidence available to refute the "make an example" trial theme which Buchanan unsuccessfully tried to pin on Ameristar. Ameristar introduced evidence to show that it clearly did not agree with any implication in Patterson's letter of "making an example" of Buchanan by establishing that it had received and paid hundreds of workers' compensation claims filed by employees both before and after Buchanan's injury in March 1997. This information was clearly relevant to the issue of whether Ameristar was "making an example" of Buchanan.

In fact, Buchanan specifically cross-examined Mays about the contents of Patterson's letter, asking about the potential cost-savings that would come from a decrease in workers' compensation claims and implying that saving money was the motivation behind denying Buchanan's claim. (R. Vol. 5, pp. 70-71, 75-77; ARE Vol. II, Tab 21). The following testimony was given on that issue:

- Q: ... every time somebody makes a claim it costs Ameristar money, doesn't it?
- A. Yes. I could yes, uh-huh. Yes.
- Q. Any particular reason you find that heard or reluctant to agree with that?
- A. When you say costs us money, I guess it would cost cost money for medical expenses, a person going to to the physician.
- Q. Right.
- A. But –

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